#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO5-2213 Lower Tribunal: 16-2004-CF-4525-AXXX

THOMAS BEVEL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEFFERSON W. MORROW Florida Bar No. 369136 1301 Riverplace Blvd., Suite 2600 Jacksonville, FL 32207 P: (904)399-5626 Attorney for Appellant

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal to the Florida Supreme Court of the two death sentences and a life sentence of Bevel. All three sentences were run consecutively.\*1

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Saturday, March 27<sup>th</sup>, 2004 at 21:45, Mr. Bevel was arrested for two (2) counts of First Degree Murder for two (2) victims, and Attempted First Degree Murder of a third victim. The indictment for Murder in the First Degree, (two (2) counts), Attempted First Degree Murder, and Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon was filed against Mr. Bevel in late 2004. The State then filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty and a Request for Statement of Particulars of Mental Mitigation on April 15<sup>th</sup>, 2004. Bevel filed several death motions on May 19<sup>th</sup>, 2005. Bevel also filed a Motion for Continuance on August 8<sup>th</sup>, 2005, which was denied. On August 19<sup>th</sup>, 2005, Bevel filed a motion to declare that death is not a possible penalty due to the Defendant's mental retardation. Bevel's I.Q. was 65. (R.329). Bevel also filed a Motion to Suppress statements which was denied, (R.395).

Bevel's trial began on August 25<sup>th</sup>, 2005. On August 26, 2005 the jury found Bevel guilty of First Degree Murder, (2 counts, 2 separate victims), and guilty of Attempted Murder of a third victim (TR. 1243). The jury unanimously (12 to 0) recommended that the Court impose the death penalty for the First Degree Murder of Phillip Sims, (13 year-old victim), the jury recommended the

Court impose the death penalty in the First Degree Murder of Garrick Stringfield by vote of 8 to 4, (TR. 1691).

The penalty phase was conducted following the guilt phase.

The trial court filed a written sentencing order which sentenced Bevel to the death penalty for the First Degree Murder of Garrick Stringfield, and consecutive to death sentence, the trial court sentenced Bevel to the death penalty for the First Degree Murder of Phillip Sims, and consecutive to the second death sentence the trial court sentenced Bevel to life imprisonment for the Attempted First Degree Murder in the shooting of Feletta Smith. All three (3) sentences were run consecutive to each other. Bevel was awarded credit for time served which was one (1) year, 209 days, (R.627).

At the trial level following jury selection, the State produced evidence that Bevel was responsible for shooting two (2) victims to death and wounding a third victim. After his conviction on all three (3) counts, the Defense at the penalty phase proved that Bevel's I.Q. was 65, and that he was abused as a child physically and mentally. His mother died in an accident when he was 12 years old, and his father died of AIDS when Bevel was 18. The jury recommended death penalty by a vote of 8-4 for the shooting death of Garrick Stringfield, and a vote of 12-0 for the shooting death of Phillip Sims.

The State began it's proof during the guilt phase with the witness of Sojourner Parker, who testified she was the mother of Phillip Sims, one of the victims in the shooting, (TR.466). The father of Phillip Sims was Garrick Stringfield. Ms. Parker testified that Mr. Stringfield was living with a roommate named TomTom and identified Bevel in the courtroom as Mr. Stringfield's nephew, TomTom, (TR.467). She further testified that she dropped her son off to go to Stringfield's house on February 28<sup>th</sup>, 2004, and she saw TomTom (Bevel), at the residence (TR.470). The State also called Feletta Smith who testified that on the evening in question she was in the bedroom with Garrick Stringfield and she heard Bevel's voice saying, "Unc, Open the door!" (TR.525). She testified that Garrick Stringfield opened the door and Bevel began shooting. The bullets hit Mr. Stringfield and Feletta Smith (TR.526). She heard Bevel say during the shooting say "Bitch, shut-up!" (TR.527). She then played dead until he left the residence. After he left the residence her body felt numb, burning and hot. She tried to use the house phone but it had no dial tone, (TR.528). She used Stringfield's cell phone and called 911. Police and Fire Rescue came to the residence (TR.530). She testified she was in the hospital for almost a month. She testified that her left hip was broken, her right femur was broken, and she was shot in the back twice (TR.531). She testified that when she first talked to police she told them it was two (2) males with masks (TR.532). She testified that she first stated that because

she was scared and did not want to get involved and that her family lives on the East side. When cross-examined, she was asked if she ever told other people that she did not remember who had shot her. Her answer was that she did not remember telling anybody that she did not know who shot her (TR.538). She also testified that she did not see Phillip Sims get shot (TR.551).

The State also called Dr. Crumbie who testified that he treated Feletta Smith for her gunshot wounds (TR.560), and Officer Fillingham testified that he arrived at the scene and had to break in through burglar bars to find Feletta Smith (TR.578). Dr. Giles was also called to testify about the autopsy of Phillip Sims. He testified that, in his opinion, the manner of death was homicide (TR.596). The State also called Dr. Nicolaescu who testified that he performed the autopsy on Garrick Stringfield and in his opinion the manner of death was homicide (TR.638).

The State then called Rohnika Dumas who testified that she was Bevel's girlfriend (TR.653). She testified that on the night in question, she was in a bedroom near to the bedroom where Mr. Stringfield and his girlfriend, Feletta Smith, were located. She heard gunshots and then saw Bevel come in with a rifle, (TR.667). She testified that she heard a young lady hollering and screaming during the shooting. (TR.668). Bevel then got her to leave the bedroom and went out the front door and into a car. She testified that Bevel had a rifle or a big gun with him (TR.669). She testified that as they were driving away Bevel tried to kill himself

(TR.669). He asked her to hold the steering wheel and pointed the gun over his neck and stated that he was sorry and didn't mean to do it (TR.670). She testified that he said he did not mean to kill the boy (TR.671). She further stated that he said that he killed the little boy because he was going to be a witness (TR.672). The State then introduced letters from Bevel to Dumas (TR.689). On cross-examination Ms. Dumas admitted she had a pending marijuana charge and another charge of battery on a law enforcement officer (TR.693). She also testified on cross that she told police that she didn't know Bevel was even a suspect in the murders until she saw his picture on television (TR.697).

The State also called Officer Doyle, an evidence technician (TR.726). The State admitted, over the Defense's objection, graphic and inflammatory photographs, one of a very large color photograph with a pool of blood (TR.736). Officer Doyle also recovered spent casings in the residence, (TR.752). He testified he recovered eight (8) cartridge casings at the scene (TR.753). He also testified he lifted fingerprints from the automobile of Garrick Stringfield.

Officer Davidson, an evidence technician, was also called to testify. He testified that he lifted several prints from the Garrick Springfield vehicle, (TR.808). Officer Kocik was called to testify that he analyzed the lift card and compared them to Bevel and, in his opinion, they were the same fingerprint (TR.830). Officer Pulley was called to testify that, in terms of ballistics, the

casings found at the scene were consistent with the AK-47 that was recovered, (TR.872).

The State then called Detective David Corsey, who was the lead detective in this case (TR.896). He testified that he and Detective Chizak were involved in questioning Bevel. After reading his constitutional rights, Bevel signed the rights form and voluntarily waived his rights, then gave different accounts to the detectives. In his first statement, Bevel denied being present at the house at the time of the murders and said he was with his girlfriend, Rohnika Dumas, at her home. In a second statement, Bevel stated he came back to the house and was accosted by two (2) masked men with firearms. Bevel stated he was forced into the house and held at gunpoint by one of the men while the other man went to the back of the house and killed Garrick Stringfield. Bevel next claimed that the two (2) men took him outside, let him go, then left in a car. He stated that he was unaware at the time that Phillip Sims had been killed. A video recap of these statements was given to the police. Both detectives were able to locate Rohnika Dumas who admitted she was at the residence when Bevel committed the murders, and stated she did not come forward because she was scared. Bevel was brought back to the Homicide Interview room and was told by the detectives that they had spoken with Ms. Dumas and that she had implicated Bevel in the murders.

Following this discussion, the detectives testified that Bevel confessed to the murders.

After the testimony of Detective Chazik, the State of Florida rested it's case. The Defense moved for judgment on acquittal, which was denied (TR.1075). The Defendant stated that he did not want to take the witness stand on his own behalf, (TR.1077). The Defense then began their case by calling Officer Bowen. He stated that he was in the Canine Unit and came to the scene of the shooting. He heard through the window a woman call out that she had been shot and that she believed her boyfriend was dead in the bedroom with her (TR.1081). He stated that when he got into the residence the female victim stated that the assailants were two (2) black males with ski masks covering their faces (TR.1083). The Defense then called Francis Smith who testified that she was the mother of Feletta Smith (TR.1090). She said she remembered Feletta telling her something about a man with a mask who was responsible for the shooting (TR.1091). The Defense called Kenitra Bronner who testified that Feletta Smith never told her that Tom Bevel had shot her, (TR.1097). Following that witness the Defense rested and closing arguments and jury instructions were given (TR.1112).

The jury found Bevel guilty as charged on Counts I, II, & III, (TR.1243). After the jury was polled, the penalty phase was passed to September 6, 2005. At the penalty phase of the trial the State called Detective Kuczkowski who was in the

Robbery Division (TR.1280). He testified that he arrested Bevel in connection with an armed robbery charge, (TR.1281). The State next called Detective Dingee who testified that he was also involved in the questioning of Bevel with Detectives Coarsey and Chizik. He testified that Bevel said that Phillip Sims needed to be shot because he was a witness (TR.1298). The State also called Priscilla Frink who was the mother of Garrick Stringfield. She testified as to the grief the family felt after his death. The State then called Florence Sims who testified that Phillip Sims was her grandson. She testified that Phillip Sims was a wonderful grandchild. (TR.1323). The State then called Sojourner Parker who testified about her son, Phillip Sims, and also expressed her feelings about his death, (TR.1326).

The Defense called their first witness, Officer Chuck Fisette, who was the custodian of jail records. He testified that Bevel only received two (2) disciplinary referrals since he was incarcerated. The Defense then called Michelle Kalil, an attorney with the Public Defender's office. She testified that she represented Bevel in the prior robbery case and that the State's first offer was ten (10) years and that after the deposition of the victim the offer was reduced to one (1) year. The Defense then called Barbara Fisher. She was Bevel's aunt who used to work in the Post Office. She testified that Bevel's mother had been drinking while she was pregnant with Bevel (TR.1373). She also testified that there was lots of physical and domestic violence in the home when he was a child (TR.1374). She further

testified that Bevel's mother died in a car accident when he was about nine (9) years old. (TR.1375). She testified that he struggled with the death of his mother. She also testified that his father died of AIDS (TR.1379). The Defense called Donna Sapp who testified that Barbara Fisher was her sister and that Bevel used to help with babysitting her grandchildren (TR.1390). The Defense next called Theondra Bevel. She testified that Bevel was her brother and that their father would be at home drunk a lot when they were children and beat both of them with a belt (TR.1409). Her father threw her in the pool at one time knowing that she could not swim and her brother got her out of the pool (TR.1412). The Defense also called Donella McCray who testified that Bevel was her grandson and after their mother passed away she took care of Bevel and his sister and brother (TR.1426). She testified that Bevel grieved about his mother's death constantly (TR.1426). The Defense then called Dr. Harry Krop, a licensed psychologist (TR.1435). He testified about Fetal Alcohol Syndrome which is when a mother drinks or uses drugs during the pregnancy which can cause an individual to have learning disabilities, possible retardation, but in any event deficits in thinking. However, Dr. Krop did not believe Bevel had the physical characteristics of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, so he could not give an opinion that he was suffering from Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (TR.1447). He did state that based on his testing, it was likely that the drinking and possible drug use his mother did during her pregnancy

had a significant impact on his overall abilities intellectually (TR.1447). testified that his I.Q. testing on Bevel came out with a full scale I.Q. of 65, which is classified in the mild range of mentally retarded (TR.1449). What this means is that, (as far as an I.O. of 65), it represents the lowest one percent (1%) of the population. This means that for every 100 individuals who take the test and score 65, there would be 99 individuals with higher scores. Therefore, this I.Q. was low (TR.1450). However, he clarified that he did not diagnose Bevel as being mentally retarded as far as a diagnosis because he had looked at some of his writings and Bevel had a lot of street sense and a higher level of adaptive functioning, although unfortunately his adaptive level was also maladaptive functioning. However, Dr. Krop stated that the functioning level in terms of I.O., was functioning based on his testing of Bevel which Dr. Krop believed was reliable in the mild range of mentally retarded (TR.1450). Dr. Krop further testified that given his I.Q., Bevel's mental age was somewhere between 14 or 15 years old (TR.1453). Dr. Krop diagnosed Bevel with anti-social personality disorder, mild mentally retarded in terms of his functioning level, that there was diagnostic criteria diagnostic and statistical manual; attention deficit hyperactivity by history, and that he had attention deficits and marijuana abuse. Following Dr. Krop, Bevel testified that he did not want to testify in the penalty phase (TR.1505). Following the evidence and closing arguments and jury instructions in the penalty phase, the jury

made a death recommendation by a vote of 8 to 4 as to Count I, victim Garrick Stringfield, and also recommended death by vote of 12-0 on Count II, victim Phillip Sims, (TR.1692).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

The Trial Judge should have allowed Bevel to strike for cause a juror, Ramos, because he favored law enforcement. In fact, the Trial Court stated that juror, Ramos, seemed conflicted because he favored law enforcement. Juror, Ramos, said that he had worked around law enforcement and that he would favor them. Clearly, he should have been excused for cause.

The Trial Court erred in finding the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances. Only one aggravating factor was found on one victim and thirteen mitigating circumstances were proven. The Trial Court also erred in denying the Motion to Dismiss death sentence and to declare the statute unconstitutional.

The Trial Court erred in abusing its discretion allowing inflammatory photographic evidence and in allowing the confession of Bevel.

Thomas Bevel's mental age was under that of an 18 year old adolescent and therefore the death penalty was inappropriate in this particular case. The defense clearly proved that, at the time of the offense, Bevel had the mental capacity of an adolescent between 14 and 15 years of age, which is substantially less than the age of 18. While the 22 years old in actual years, because he had an I.Q. of 65 it was clear that he had frontal lobe dysfunction. The impairments of mentally retarded or mentally challenged offenders make it less defensible to impose a death penalty

as retribution for past crimes and less likely the death penalty will have a real deterrent effect. Almost every state prohibits those under 18 years of age from voting, serving on a jury, or marrying without parental consent. Youth is more than a chronological fact because it is a condition of life when a person may be most susceptible to psychological damage and influence which was clearly proven in this case. Bevel had experienced an abusive childhood. The standards of decency embodied in the Eighth Amendment evolve as public opinion becomes enlightened by humane justice. When the punishment is death that extreme sanction must fit not only the crime but also the offender; a death sentence must be directly related to the personal culpability of the criminal defendant.

The trial court erred in adopting virtually verbatim the proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law submitted my the State. In the trial courts sentencing order, the order itself was copied from the state's memorandum. Additionally, in the record there are handwritten words presumably by the trial court where, in the State's memorandum, the words "State proved" is scratched out, and a handwritten note of "Court finds beyond a reasonable doubt". The problem of a wholesale adoption of a parties proposed order is that it opens to question whether the trier of fact independently considered the issues prior to entering the order, particularly the

weight to be given the aggravating factors and the mitigating circumstances.

#### **ARGUMENT I**

# THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO STRIKE FOR CAUSE A JUROR WHO FAVORED THE LAW ENFORCEMENT

During the voir dire examination of the jury in Bevel's trial, juror Ramos was asked certain questions and gave certain answers. Defense counsel asked the following:

Mr. Eler: "Mr. Ramos, my understanding is that, for some reason, I had

down yesterday when Mr. De La Rionda or the judge may have asked you about law enforcement, that it would influence your

verdict, is that true?"

Juror: "Well, I worked with them for so long that it may tend to-I

favor them because I work around law enforcement so long but

it wouldn't influence my decision."

Mr. Eler: "It would not?"

Juror: "No."

Mr. Eler: "Okay. Alright. Thank you. Judge." (TR.376)

Following that exchange the Defense counsel renewed his challenge for cause. The trial court even stated that <u>juror Ramos seemed conflicted</u> because he <u>did say he favored law enforcement</u>. (TR.377) However, the Court went on to say that to every objective question, juror Ramos answered in a way that did not show bias. The Court denied the challenge for cause.

The standard for reviewing a challenge for cause is "an abuse discretion".

Castro v. State, 644 So.2d 97 (Fla.1994). The trial court abused it's discretion in

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