IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS BEVEL,			
Appellant,			
v.	CASE	NO.	SC05-2213
STATE OF FLORIDA,			
Appellee.			

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

BILL MCCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

RONALD A. LATHAN, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0018477
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY

GENERAL

THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, EXT. 3580
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

to be classified as mentally retarded under Florida law).

Bevel maintains that sentencing him to death would contravene Atkins given that a medical expert testified during the penalty phase hearing that he had an IQ score of 65. Bevel relies on this IQ score to support his contention that he is mentally retarded. However, it is apparent that Bevel misapprehends what is actually required to demonstrate mental retardation within the understanding of Florida law.

During the penalty phase hearing, Bevel called forensic psychologist Dr. Harry Krop to testify. As previously noted, Krop administered an IQ test to Bevel and determined that his overall IQ was 65 - a score which placed Bevel in the lowest one percentile. Bevel's brief avers that this score, standing alone, is sufficient to classify him as mentally

⁵A suppression hearing was held prior to the trial. The central issue of the hearing involved whether Bevel's confession could be construed as voluntary. A secondary issue involved whether Bevel was mentally retarded. The State presented the testimony of Dr. William Riebsame. Riebsame testified that he did not administer a full-scale IO test to Bevel, in part, because Bevel appeared to be in need of glasses (R. 820-22, 824). On a verbal IQ test Bevel scored a 75 (R. 823); and Riebsame did not believe that Bevel was mentally retarded as he did not exhibit deficits in his adaptive functioning (R. 830). However, the trial court failed to make an explicit ruling on the issue of mental retardation during the suppression hearing so as to allow Bevel additional time to marshal evidence to support his mental retardation claim. The trial court did address Bevel's mental retardation claim in its sentencing order - finding that he was not retarded under Florida law.

retarded.

It is important to recall that Dr. Krop concluded he did not believe Bevel was mentally retarded, in part, because Krop determined that Bevel did not exhibit significant deficits in his adaptive functioning. Because a capital felon's adaptive functioning is a factor that is to be considered in determining whether he is mentally retarded; the absence of any deficits in his adaptive functioning, would signify that the felon is not mentally retarded under Florida law. As this Court has previously noted,

[Within the understanding of American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (4th ed. 2000)], [e]ven where an individual's IQ is lower than 70, mental retardation would not be diagnosed if there are no significant deficits or impairments in adaptive functioning. Id. 42. Adaptive functioning refers to effectively individuals cope with common demands and how well they meet the standards of personal independence expected of someone in their particular age group, sociocultural background, and community setting." Id. In order for mental retardation to diagnosed, there must be significant limitations in adaptive functioning in of the following least two skill communication, self-care, home living, community social/interpersonal skills, use of self-direction, functional resources, academic skills, work, leisure, health, and safety. Id. at 41.

Rodriguez v. State, 9191 So. 2d 1252, 1266 n. 8 (Fla. 2005).

Thus, an individual with an IQ falling below 70 is not

automatically determined to be mentally retarded; consistent therewith, this Court has also had occasion to uphold a death sentence even in those instances where there was some evidence that the accused's IQ was less than 70. Rodgers v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 2542 (Fla. Oct. 26, 2006), the accused had been charged with killing his wife, whom he had discovered was unfaithful. During the penalty phase evidence was presented evidence indicating that Rodgers' IQ was 69. Id. at *6. A Spencer Hearing was convened to make a determination regarding whether Rodgers was indeed mentally retarded. Two court-appointed expert found that Rodgers' IQ was 75 and 74 respectively. Rodgers' expert determined that his IQ was 69, and further opined that he was mentally retarded. Id. at *25. The trial court ultimately found that Rodgers was not mentally retarded because there had not been any demonstration that he exhibited deficits in his adaptive functioning. The trial court observed that at various points throughout his life Rodgers was an entrepreneur; he was able to keep appointments; he bid on projects; he worked with customers; and he maintained a normal rapport with those he Id. *26-27. This Court affirmed the trial encountered. court's finding that Rodgers was not mentally retarded.

More recently, this Court considered post-conviction

claim from an individual who also alleged he was mentally retarded. In Burns v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 2593 (Fla. Nov. 2, 2006), an individual who had been sentenced to death sought to argue that his death sentence was constitutionally infirm because, he averred, he was mentally retarded. Burns' expert found that his IQ was 69; conversely, the State's expert determined that Burns' IQ was 74. The trial court found the testimony of the State's expert to be more credible and found that Burns did not meet the first prong for a determination of mental retardation. Id. *34-35. The trial court's determination was affirmed by this Court. This Court further noted, again relying on the trial court's findings, that even if Burns had clearly demonstrated that his IQ fell below 70, he would still not be considered mentally retarded because he demonstrate any deficits in his could not functioning. Id. at *36-37. The trial noted that Burns' work history (which included running a business) and his familial interactions evidenced that he did not have deficits in his adaptive functioning.

In the instant case, no medical expert has found Bevel to be mentally retarded. Moreover, the trial court noted that Bevel had lived on his own since he was eighteen years old; Bevel was also able to care for himself and attend to his

personal affairs; he was able to drive to places he needed to be; Bevel also performed odd jobs including automotive repair and babysitting. Thus, the trial court was presented with competent substantial evidence that Bevel was not mentally retarded, because no demonstration has been made that he had any deficits in his adaptive functioning.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ALLOWED FOR THE ADMISSION OF CRIME SCENE PHOTOGRAPHS; THE PHOTOGRAPHS WERE RELEVANT AND PRESENTING THEM WAS MORE PROBATIVE THAN PREJUDICIAL

Bevel opines that the trial court improperly allowed the State to present photographs of the crime scene that were needlessly gory, and that the photos were more prejudicial than probative. He avers that it was erroneous for the photographs to be shown to the jury.

This Court has acknowledged that the admission of photographs depicting a crime scene "is within the discretion of the trial court, and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion." Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1286 (Fla. 2005). The Court in Rodriguez further commented that although courts should be wary of admitting photographs that are needlessly gratuitous, "[t]he test for the admissibility of such photographs is relevancy rather than necessity." Id.

Bevel specifically argues that he "objected to exhibits which were photographs of the dead body of the victim and bloodstains," and "[t]he evidentiary value of these gruesome photographs had no value because the witnesses had already testified to seeing the bodies." Appellant's Brief at p. 32. Because Bevel does not provide much in the way of context, it is briefly necessary to discuss the circumstances surrounding the admission of numerous photographs depicting the crime scene.

During the testimony of Detective Mark Doyle, the State sought to introduce a number of pictures taken by Doyle of the crime scene. One of the pictures, Exhibit DD, depicted a large pool of blood with a bullet fragment. Bevel objected to its admission (T. 736). Bevel believed that the picture was simply cumulative and would be far more prejudicial than probative. Left unstated in Bevel's brief is that his objection regarding Exhibit DD was in fact sustained by the trial court (T. 742) ("So I'll sustain the objection to State's [Exhibit] double D at this time."). Bevel also objected to State Exhibit HH which depicted a mattress from The photograph of the mattress had Stringfield's home. evidence of blood stains and some projectile marks which appeared to demonstrate where some bullets had struck. The

photograph depicting the mattress was admitted by the trial court because that particular photograph went towards "identification" (T. 742).

Photographs which serve to assist a witness "explain[] the condition of the crime scene when the police arrived" have been held to be admissible. Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488, 494 (Fla. 1998). Additionally, the record clearly evidences that the trial court reviewed the photographs at issue prior to their admission; and because the trial court conducted an independent review of the photographs, this militates in favor of their admissibility. See, e.g., Douglas v. State, 878 So. 2d 1246, 1256 (Fla. 2004).

Moreover, even if it was erroneous to admit the photographs, this was merely harmless error. See *Dufour v*. *State*, 905 So. 2d 42, 74 (Fla. 2005) (recognizing that even if it was erroneous to admit photographs, this "would not have provided a basis for reversible error on appeal because the admission was harmless and the photos [did] not create the circumstance that the risk of prejudice outweighed the relevancy"). Accordingly, this claim of error should be rejected

VII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ADMITTING BEVEL'S CONFESSION TO LAW ENFORCEMENT

Bevel argues that the trial court improperly permitted his confession to be admitted. Prior to Bevel's trial, a motion to suppress hearing occurred; the trial court ultimately determined that Bevel's confession was freely and voluntarily given. Bevel now opines that his confession was not freely given, and in fact, because he has a low IQ, any consent he may have given should be construed as suspect.

This Court has explained its standard of review following a trial court's grant or denial of a motion to suppress:

We have stated that "[a] trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress comes to us clothed with a presumption of correctness and, as the reviewing court, we must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling." Connor v. State, 803 So. 2d 598, 605 (Fla. 2001) (quoting Murray v. State, 692 So. 2d 157, 159 (Fla. 1997)). Nevertheless, "mixed questions of law and fact that ultimately determine constitutional rights should be reviewed by appellate courts using a two-step approach, deferring to the trial court on questions of historical fact but conducting a de novo review of the constitutional issue." Id.

Taylor v. State, 937 So. 2d 590, 598 (Fla. 2006).

Further, this Court has recognized that the onus is on the State to demonstrate by the preponderance of the evidence that a defendant's confession was voluntary, following an analysis of the totality of the circumstances. See, e.g., Sliney v. State, 699 So. 2d 662, 667-68 (Fla. 1997). This Court will evaluate whether a defendant valid waived his

Miranda rights following resolution of two distinct concerns:

First, the relinquishment of the right must have been voluntary in the sense that it was the product of free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception. Second, the waiver must have been made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it. Only if the "totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation" reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the *Miranda* rights have been waived.

Ramirez v. State, 739 So. 2d 568, 575 (quoting Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986)).

The question now before the Court is whether the trial court's ruling was correct. Various detectives from the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office were called to testify during the suppression hearing. They discussed the circumstances of their interviews with Bevel on March 27-28, 2004. The detectives all testified that Bevel affirmed that he understood his Miranda rights, and that he read and signed a document to that effect; Bevel was also asked his level of education, and whether he had recently consumed any drugs or alcohol prior to speaking with detectives.

Bevel now opines that his confession was infirm and that his low IQ score should call into question the validity of any admissions he may have made. However, this Court has

previously recognized that it is entirely permissible to admit confession of а defendant possessing subaverage intelligence, provided the defendant was cognizant of the consequences of doing so, see, e.g., Roman v. State, 475 So. 2d 1228, 1232 (Fla. 1985). Moreover, this Court has observed that simply because an individual possesses a low IO score, a confession will not be deemed inadmissible unless the "subnormality or impairment [is] so severe as to render the defendant unable to communicate intelligibly or understand the meaning of Miranda warnings even when presented in simplified form." Thompson v. State, 548 So. 2d 198, 203 (Fla. (citation omitted). This Court tethered the admissibility of the confession to whether the defendant was cognizant of the rights he was relinquishing by speaking with law enforcement. Id. at 204.

Bevel was certainly no stranger to the law given his lengthy arrest record, and therefore he was aware of the significance of signing the Miranda form. See generally United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411, 424-25 (1976)(observing a determination as to whether a defendant's cooperation with law enforcement was voluntary could include consideration of the fact that the accused was not a "newcomer to the law"). Moreover, the fact that at one point Bevel attempted to use

his child's mother a false alibi also indicates that he knew "he was in trouble and appreciated the consequences of his conversations with police." *Thompson*, 548 So. 2d at 204.

Accordingly, this Court should hold that Bevel's statement to law enforcement was not coerced, and he was certainly aware of hte consequences of speaking with law enforcement.

VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FAIL TO MAKE INDEPENDENT FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSION OF LAW WITHIN ITS SENTENCING ORDER; FURTHER BEVEL DID NOT OBJECT TO THE SENTENCING ORDER ON THIS BASIS, THEREFORE THIS CLAIM HAS NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR REVIEW

Bevel contends that the trial court's sentencing order was a near verbatim copy of a proposed order that had been submitted by the State. Bevel contends that because a few sentences in the State's proposed sentencing order and the trial court's actual sentencing order are very similar - this constitutes reversible error.

This Court has clearly stated what a trial court's sentencing order in a capital case must entail:

a trial judge presiding over a capital case must:
(1) expressly evaluate in his or her written order
each mitigating circumstance proposed by the
defendant to determine whether it is supported by
the evidence and whether, in the case of
nonstatutory factors, it is truly of a mitigating
nature; (2) assign a weight to each aggravating
factor and mitigating factor properly established;
(3) weigh the established aggravating circumstances
against the established mitigating circumstances;

and (4) provide a detailed explanation of the result of the weighing process.

Fennie v. State, 855 So. 2d 597, 608 (Fla. 2003).

The fact that portions of the State's proposed order and the trial court's sentencing order had similarities is not presumptively improper; for while it certainly true that the trial court must not abdicate its responsibility to independently weigh the relevant aggravators and mitigators; the trial court is nevertheless permitted to take into consideration a proposed sentencing order submitted by the State. See Walton v. State, 847 So. 2d 438, 446-47 (Fla. 2003).

In addition, Bevel never agues that he objected to the sentencing order, which is a necessary predicate to preserve this claim, therefore his contention is procedurally barred. See, e.g., Blackwleder v. State, 851 So. 2d 650, 651 (Fla. 2003). Accordingly, this claim of error should be rejected.

IX. BEVEL'S DEATH SENTENCE IS ENTIRELY APPROPRIATE; THIS
COURT ONLY LOOKS TO THE ACCUSED'S CHRONOLOGICAL AGE RATHER
THAT HIS MENTAL AGE FOR PURPOSES OF WIEIGHING THE PROPRIETY
OF A DEATH SENTENCE

Finally, Bevel relies on *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005) for the proposition that executing him is improper because one medical expert opined that his mental age was that

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